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1. Name of Property

historic name Fort McHenry

other names/site number Fort McHenry National Monument and Historic Shrine

2. Location

street & number ______ Locust Point, at east end of Fort Avenue [ not for publication
ity or town Baltimore (X vicinity

state __Maryland code _Mp  countyBaltimere {(City) — code 510  zip code 21230

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this [J nomination
O request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
Kl meets {1 does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

Kl nationally [ statewide [ locally. (C] See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

notd) Y Mhienbiane 3-1-94

Signature of certifying offigfal/Title J Date
National Park Service
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property U] meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. (D See continuation sheet for additional
comments.) :

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification
| hereby certify that the property is: Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
[ entered in the National Register.

[] see continuation sheet.

[] determined eligible for the
National Register
See continuation sheet.

[ determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[] refhoved from the National
Register.

other, (explain:)

Additional Dosumentation Acoepted




Fort McHenry
Name of Property

Baltimore City, MD
County and State

e
‘“-.sm-—--m Eg

5. Classificati i :

Ownership of Propgrty. Category-of Property
(Check as many bgxes as apply) (Check only one box)

O private T f  Hbuilding(s)
(] public-écal [# district
U] public-State [ site

& public-Federal O structure

[ object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a muitiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property *
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
004 006 buildings
009 000 sites
532 665 structures
867 00% objects
652 615 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

001

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Defense: fortification/military facility/

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Recreation and Culture: monument/museum/

ite ms storage park
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials

(Enter categories from instructions)

Late 18th century star fort

19th century fortifications and powder

magazine

19th century barracks

Narrative Description

(Enter categories from instructions)

e

walls _priek masonry/stone;earth; concrete

roof earth/tin/slate

other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

* Please note that the contributing resources generally correspond to Fort McHenry's List
of Classified Structures (LCS). In some instances single LCS entries encompass multiple
resources (e.g. the water battery guns and emplacements [LCS No. 81221] consists of 11
cannons and 24 gun emplacements, but are counted as one contributing structure).
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

(st A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[t B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

[ C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

] D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

{1 A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

{1 B removed from its original location.

[0 C a birthplace or grave.

(1 D a cemetery.

1 E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
[J F a commemorative property.

[ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

‘Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Military; engineering

Literature; poetry

Art; sculpture
c ion: histori fion

Period of Significance
(1794-1802) to 1945

Significant Dates
1814

1914

1922

Significant Person
(Compilete if Criterion B is marked above)

Francis Scott Key

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Architect/Builder

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibilography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[ preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

[l previously listed in the National Register

] previously determined eligible by the National
Register

[J designated a National Historic Landmark

[« recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
# MD= - » 1096-1097

[1 recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:

[] State Historic Preservation Office
1 Other State agency
[zl Federal agency
L1 Local government
[ University
(] Other
Name of repository:

Fort McHenry National Monument and Historic
Shrine; Library of Congress
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10._Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 43,26

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)
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k! See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle _ Steven R. Whissen/Historian

organization Denver Service Center, National Park Service dateJuly, 1997

street & number12795 W. Alameda Pkwy., P. 0. 25287 telephone 303-969~-2380

city or town Denver state_CO  zip code 80225

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name

street & number telephone

city or town state___ Zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Narrative
Description

Fort McHenry National Monument and Historic Shrine is located within the
city limits of Baltimore, Maryland. The 43.26-acre site is situated at the
eastern tip of Locust Point. Historically, Locust Point was known as
Whetstone Point, the peninsula that projects into Baltimore Harbor dividing
the Northwest and Ferry Branches of the Patapsco River. The Northwest
Branch is identified today as the Northwest Harbor, and the Ferry Branch is
part of the Patapsco River’s main estuary.

In most respects, the fort appears today much as it did in 1933 when
transferred from the jurisdiction of the War Department to the National Park
Service. As originally constructed, the earthen and masonry star fort was
laid out as a regular pentagon with a bastion at each angle. The distance
between the points of adjacent bastions is about 290 ft. The parade ground
is also in the configuration of a pentagon (about 150 ft. per side) within
which are the former officers’ quarters, barracks, and powder magazine.
Among the principal historic structures on the exterior of the fort are the
ravelin, the water (outer) battery, and the Civil War powder magazine. More
detailed descriptions of the various structures and features of the fort are
provided in the following discussion.

The boundaries of the property encompass all the land that originally
comprised Fort McHenry at the time of the British bombardment in 1814 and
most of the additional acreage acquired by the War Department in 1836. The
historic setting of the larger site as it existed during the War of 1812 or
the Civil War no longer exists; construction in 1917 and later demolition of
U.S. Army General Hospital No. 2 substantially altered the topography and
other features/structures external to the star fort. The present landscape
surrounding the fort consists of a grass lawn, ornamental fruit trees, and
native and exotic shade trees and shrubs. The grounds are carefully managed
by the National Park Service as part of overall efforts to commemorate the
importance of the site as a national shrine, with no attempt to recreate the
landscape as it existed during earlier periods of military occupation.
Modern urban and industrial development lies within the viewshed of the
fort. The fort is bordered on the north by the U.S. Naval Reserve Center,
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and the Baltimore City Fire Department
Fireboat Facility. The Southern States Grain Cooperative and the Maryland
Port Authority border the fort on the west.

Despite the loss of integrity of the surrounding site and modifications of
individual buildings and structures, Fort McHenry'’'s extant resources
continue to embody a high degree of integrity reflecting the fort’s national
importance as a coastal defense work from the period of its initial
construction (1794-1802) to the end of improvements constructed immediately
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following the Civil War. After this time, Fort McHenry functioned primarily
as a garrison until its closure in 1912, later serving in various capacities
that included a World War I hospital and a World War II Coast Guard training
facility. The broad significance of the fort is recognized as encompassing
these and other later periods. However, the primary physical expression of
the fort in its capacity as a coastal defense work is best reflected in the
resources constructed between approximately 1800 and 1867.

Description (reference is suggested to the attached diagram of the fort and
glossary of fortification terminology)

I. Development History

By the time of its completion in 1802, Fort McHenry had assumed the
essential form that has been perpetuated to the present. The earliest known
plan of the fort (1803) indicates that at that time the five-bastioned,
masonry and earthen star (pentagonal) fortification included two one-story
brick barracks, two one-story brick officers’ quarters, and a brick powder
magazine within the parade grounds. A cistern was located between the
enlisted men’s barracks (later removed in 1819). Two gun embrasures
(openings) passed through the flanks of each bastion. A ditch or dry moat
surrounded the fort on all but its southeastern side. The plan showed trees
planted at regularly spaced intervals on the terreplein of the bastions and
curtain walls, around the perimeter of the parade ground, and bordering the
entrance road to the fort. Based on early sketch drawings, the majority of
these trees appear to have been Lombardy poplars. The sally port was
originally a simple uncovered entrance, and a bridge spanned the moat in
front of the sally port and connected with the road to Baltimore. The
postern tunnel served as a passageway and primary drain from the parade to
the exterior of the fort and passed below the curtain wall between bastions
4 and 5. Upper and lower water batteries were in place to the east of the
fort.

Other than routine maintenance and repairs, Fort McHenry was not
substantially modified over the ensuing eleven years until the improvements
made in 1813 during the War of 1812. The deficiencies noted in the fort at
that time by Colonel Decius Wadsworth, Chief Ordnance Officer of the War
Department, led to construction of the ravelin outside the sally port to
bolster protection of the entrance. The ravelin was constructed according
to Wadsworth’s recommendations, and thereby attained the distinction as the
fort’s first significant architectural feature designed by an American-
trained engineer. Additional modifications of the star fort included
filling the gun embrasures on the bastion flanks; platforming the bastions
and repositioning the gun emplacements to allow firing "en barbette" (over
the parapet walls); construction of brick traverses at the interior entrance
of the sally port and in front of the parade magazine; and excavation of a
well on the parade grounds to replace the earlier cistern. The ditch was
deepened and an earthen counterscarp was raised on the far side opposite the
scarp wall. The exterior ground surface beyond the counterscarp was graded
to serve as a "glacis" (defensive earthen slope). Although no longer
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extant, there is a strong possibility based on later map evidence that a
"caponniere" or covered passageway was constructed. The caponniere (a
feature recommended by Col. Wadsworth), would have permitted a protected
means of communication between the fort and the outer batteries, accessed
via the postern tunnel.

The 1814 bombardment, and particularly a direct hit upon the powder
magazine, focused attention on the urgent need for bombproofing measures to
better protect munitions and troops. Work began immediately after the
bombardment on the construction of an arched brick structure over the
existing magazine, two underground personnel bombproofs on either side of
the sally port, and a bombproof structure over the well. An 1819 map of the
fort prepared by Captain William Poussin, U.S. Topographical Engineers,
further indicates that by that date the sally port was covered by an arched
roof, and the brick traverse at the interior entrance of the sally port had
been removed. A small structure that served as a guardhouse (1806) is also
depicted at the north end of the commanding officer’s quarters, and another
guardhouse (1814-1837) was in place between the enlisted men’s barracks at
the former location of the cistern.

During the 1820s, Fort McHenry was in a general state of disrepair.
Extensive masonry problems were evident, particularly in the scarp walls,
resulting from moisture entering through gaps in the brick and coping stone
where the pointing had washed out. Overcrowding was another serious
problem, and led to the construction in 1829 of second stories over the
enlisted men’s barracks and officers’ quarters. While the placement of
second stories was not a particularly sound idea from a defensive
standpoint, it helped to alleviate overcrowding and was endorsed by the post
surgeon on the basis that it would improve air circulation and the overall
health of the garrison. Full-length second-floor piazzas {(porches) were
also constructed on the front of all four buildings. A two-story addition
was constructed joining the commanding officer’s quarters with the adjacent
guard house. The brick traverse in front of the magazine was removed at
this time. To correct the problems of moisture infiltration, the earth
covering the sally port and personnel bombproofs was temporarily removed and
the structures were waterproofed with a layer of sheet lead. A cement wash
was applied over the scarp walls of the fort and ravelin.

A number of improvements were made during the 1830s under the supervision of
Lieutenant Henry Thompson, U.S. Army Corps of Artillery, who arrived at Fort
McHenry in 1833. Among these measures, the parapet was modified in 1834
with the construction of a stone wall on the inner slope around the parade
grounds. The parapet was further modified with the construction of a three
ft.-high brick revetment (breast-height) wall on the terreplein in 1837
(raised by 18 inches in 1839). The scarp walls received extensive repairs
and repointing in 1837. 1In 1835, two new guardhouse/prison rooms were
constructed above the bombproofs on either side of the sally port to replace
the former guardhouse located between the enlisted mens’ barracks.
Additional prison rooms were added in 1857 (three cells on the south side of
the sally port and one on the north). By 1837, the trees that were earlier
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planted on the ramparts and the parade were removed.

In 1836, the War Department acquired an additional 15 acres at Fort McHenry,
expanding the property from its previous 24 acres. A 10 ft.-high brick wall
was constructed in 1837 to demarcate the fort’s new western boundary.
Wrought iron gates were placed at the wall entrance where the road leading
to Baltimore entered the fort grounds. An earlier boundary wall (1817) was
dismantled when the new wall was built; the brick and gates from the earlier
wall were incorporated into the 1837 wall. Also, between 1836 and 1839, the
heavy masonry seawall east of the fort near the water’s edge underwent a
second phase of construction (initial work on the wall began in 1816).
Additional sections of the seawall were constructed up until 1895, extending
the overall length of the wall to about three-quarters of a mile.

Work began on the water (outer) battery in 1836 and was completed the
following year. The water battery, equipped with 39 gun emplacements, was
conceived as a first line of defense between the fort and the seawall,
extending from the east face of the ravelin to the left shoulder of bastion
3. Breast-height revetment walls were constructed on the water battery.

The walls settled shortly after completion, and were rebuilt and raised in
1839. Two shot furnaces were constructed within the water battery in 1842,
features that were later demolished during the Civil War upon the fort’s
adoption of rifled artillery. To permit the movement of troops and supplies
between the fort and the water battery, the ravelin entrance was
reconfigured and the road which originally passed through the ravelin to the
sally port was filled-in. Gun emplacements were also installed on the
ravelin, on the shoulders of the fort bastions, and in the dry moat between
bastions 1 and 2.

Minor improvements continued to be made throughout the 1840s and 1850s,
ironically bringing the fort closer to a state of defensive readiness at a
time when its strategic function appeared to be waning. However, the Civil
War dramatically refocused attention on Fort McHenry's importance and led to
the next significant phase of development. During the early stages of the
war, the gorge (the area between the sally port and the ravelin) and the
water battery were enclosed with a palisade or fence consisting of closely
spaced wooden stakes. An abatis (line of felled trees and sharpened
branches) was placed in the dry moat and at the base of the water battery's
glacis.

More substantial improvements followed including the reconfiguration of the
sally port bombproofs to serve as powder magazines; construction of a new
artesian well on the parade to supplant the one constructed prior to the
1814 bombardment; and construction/modification of gun emplacements for
improved armaments, particularly Rodman cannon. At the beginning of the
Civil War, the Rodmans were considered the ultimate achievement in the long
tradition of smoothbore (muzzle-loading) armament design, and were standard
ordnance for all coastal fortifications. In 1863, a detached powder
magazine of brick and concrete was constructed on the grounds west of the
fort in response to the increased demands for powder storage.



Form 10-900-a OM8 Approvel No. 10240018
NP8 1 .
(800

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet Fort Melenry

Name of Property
Baltimore City, MD
Section number _7 ____ Page 2> County and State

Just as perceived deficiencies during the War of 1812 led to improvements
immediately afterwards, Fort McHenry received extensive new construction in
the aftermath of the Civil War. 1In 1866-67, the water battery was modified
with the construction of two magazines, two bombproofs and a free-standing
earthen traverse. The water battery magazines and bombproofs also
functioned as traverses. An additional magazine was constructed in the
ravelin. In 1873, a steam pump was installed for the well which
necessitated the construction of a pump house and storage tanks. Water
pipes were placed throughout the fort. The system was eventually replaced
in 1884 when the fort was connected to Baltimore’s water supply system.
Much of the repair work undertaken during the 1870s and 80s was directed
towards correcting ongoing drainage and sewage disposal problems.

Construction began in 1872-73 on a new water battery northeast of the fort
near the seawall. Plans for this massive earthen work called for the
placement of 25 15-in. Rodman guns. Funding was suspended in 1875, and
although work on the battery evidently continued for three more years, it
was never completed. It was removed in 1928.

Extensive modifications to the officers’ quarters and enlisted men’s
barracks occurred in the 1890s. By this time, most of the garrison was
housed outside the fort compound. In 1894, the second story of the junior
officers’ quarters was removed and the building converted into a bakery.
The front porches of the commanding officer’s quarters, junior officers’
quarters, and enlisted men’s barracks no. 2 were also removed. The
commanding officer’s quarters were thoroughly remodeled; an ordnance
storehouse was placed in the first floor and subsistence supplies were
stored on the second floor. The quartermaster’s office and supplies were
installed in the former barracks (no. 2).

Fort McHenry’s function as a military post ended in 1912. 1Its last active
garrison, the 141st Company Coast Artillery Corps, was relocated to Fort
Strong, Massachusetts. An immigration station was constructed in 1913 on a
portion of land near the east seawall that was provided to the U.S. Treasury
Department by the War Department; the building was later used as a receiving
ward for the World War I hospital and is presently used and operated by the
U.S. Naval Readiness Reserve Center outside the park boundary.

In 1914, Fort McHenry was leased to the City of Baltimore as a municipal
park, and subsequently a public beach and swimming pool were opened in the
northwest corner of the park. The Civil War powder magazine served as a
bathhouse. The centennial observance of the 1814 bombardment provided an
occasion for the placement of several commemorative monuments and plaques at
the fort. The large statue of Orpheus (authorized in 1914 but not placed
until 1922 in the center of the entrance drive) was a significant artistic
work from this period. The Armistead Monument, placed on the outer battery,
was another significant work commemorating the bombardment.

Fort McHenry returned to military control in 1917 with the establishment of
U.S. General Hospital No. 2. The grounds and the dry moat were seriously



NP8 Form 10-900-a
(8-06)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number Page ____~

OMB Approvel No. 1024-0018

Fort McHenry

Name of Property
Baltimore City, MD

County and State

R Y SO SR S DU

impacted by the construction of roads and hospital buildings close to the
scarp walls and at the base of the water battery’s glacis. Several
underground utility lines were constructed across the parade that exited
through the sally port. Fortunately, the quartermaster officer in charge of
construction recognized the fort’s importance as a historic landmark, and
ensured the avoidance of the principal above-ground structures. However,
several 19th century structures located outside the fort walls were removed
at this time including the 1813 hospital, the 1843 officers’ stables and the
1864 storehouse; foundations of these structures exist in many instances
below the fill dirt imported on-site by the Army. Eight former buildings
from U.S. General Hospital No. 2 exist outside the park boundary under the
ownership of the U.S. Navy, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and the City
of Baltimore.

Following Fort McHenry’s authorization as a national park in 1925, the War
Department undertook restoration of the fort that reached perhaps its
greatest level of activity in 1928-29. Although the 1873 water battery was
removed, the War Department generally attempted to restore the fort to its
appearance at the time of its greatest physical development under active
military occupation, and not specifically to its appearance during the 1814
bombardment. Among the significant repairs and restorations made at this
time were reconstruction of the dry moat; cleaning of the sally port
bombproofs; cleaning and masonry repair of the water battery magazines and
installation of iron gates; and various repairs, repointing and rebuilding
of the parade walls, scarp walls and the water battery breast height walls.
The parade buildings received exterior wall repairs and rebuilding along
with new metal roofs, reconstruction of the piazzas and the second floor of
the junior officers’ quarters. Extensive interior restoration was also
completed, and electric service was installed in all fort buildings. A
parking lot was constructed near the south face of the ravelin.

A second phase of memorial commemoration occurred at Fort McHenry in 1931-32
in observance of the 200th anniversary of George Washington’s birth.

Various patriotic organizations dedicated interpretive markers to
Baltimore’s 1814 defenders and planted trees for each state in the Union.
The Washington Elm was planted at this time; the tree recently died and was
removed in 1995.

The National Park Service (NPS) assumed the management of Fort McHenry in
1933. Masonry repointing already underway since 1929 by the Works Progress
Administration continued until 1935. 1In 1935, the NPS installed major
utility lines through the ramparts of the fort including a steam line and an
electric corridor connected to a high tension transformer vault.
Construction of the electric corridor required the removal of a section of
original terreplein breast-height wall near bastion 1. A section of wall
from the sally port ramp was also removed at this time, as were several ca.
1840 traverse stones from bastion 5. The stones and debris were deposited
in the water off the southwest seawall.

Following World War II (during which time Fort McHenry functioned as a U.S.
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Coast Guard training station), the nation’s post-war economic boom and new-
found leisure time for the motoring public led to profound visitation
increases for National Park Service units. 1In 1956, the NPS instituted a
program known as "Mission 66" to address these pressing demands for visitor
services and park improvements. As part of these program objectives, Fort
McHenry’s first visitor center was constructed in 1964 along with a new
parking lot, a maintenance facility and two park residences.

Over the duration of its site administration, the NPS has endeavored to
perpetuate the condition and appearance of the fort from the time the agency
acquired the property. Efforts have been underway since the 1970s to
correct the ongoing problems of displaced and deteriorated masonry resulting
from moisture build-up and freeze/thaw episodes. These efforts have
included the construction of drains both at the base and through the scarp
wall. Long spans of the deteriorated water battery breast-height wall were
rebuilt with modern materials in the 1980s. Additional rehabilitation of
the fort is presently underway.

(Note: National Park Service identification numbers and List of Classified
Structures (LCS) numbers are provided where applicable for the following
inventoried structures, buildings and objects at Fort McHenry)

II. Contributing Resources
A. Sites

1. Fort McHenry National Monument and Historic Shrine - The overall
43.26 acres encompassing Fort McHenry National Monument and Historic
Shrine represent a historic site composed of numerous historic,
archeological and cultural landscape resources that chart the course
of Fort McHenry’s evolutionary development. These resources comprise
the structural design elements and materials that have gone into the
fort’s construction, and the artifacts and other elements of material
culture associated with the various periods of construction and
occupation. Several twentieth century additions to the fort grounds,
particularly commemorative markers and statuary, reflect the
importance of memorial activities at Fort McHenry.

Other than the existing structures and buildings comprising the
historic fortifications and external walls [i.e., the star fort, outer
(water) battery, the Civil War powder magazine, seawall, and boundary
wall], few remnants of the cultural landscape have survived associated
with the late 18th and 19th century development of Whetstone (Locust)
Point for military defense purposes. Construction of U.S. Army
General Hospital No. 2 in 1917 for the convalescence of World War I
veterans, and removal of the hospital buildings by 1929, resulted in
extensive disturbance to the landscape surrounding the fort. Among
the external features disturbed by the construction and grading
undertaken during this period were the glacis (the earthen defensive
slope that formerly extended from the water battery to the seawall)
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and dry moat around the perimeter of the star fort. Aerial
photographs taken of Fort McHenry during the 1920s underscore the
extent of development associated with the Army hospital, showing
barracks and other buildings occupying virtually all available space
outside the fort to the water’s edge.

With efforts underway from the latter 19th century to commemorate the
significance of the defense of Fort McHenry, Francis Scott Key and the
writing of "The Star-Spangled Banner," the landscape underwent further
changes reflecting the memorialization of the site. Various statues
and markers were placed in 1914 during the centennial observance of
the bombardment. Placement of the Statue of Orpheus (authorized by
Congress in 1914, but not placed on site until 1922), altered a
portion of the entrance road with the construction of a circular drive
around the base of the statue. The statue was moved to its present
location in 1963 to accommodate improved access to the new parking lot
and visitor center. During the 1932 Bicentennial celebration of
George Washington’s birth, other markers and monuments were placed on
the grounds along with the planting of commemorative trees (e.g., the
Washington Elm and cherry trees planted by the school children of
Baltimore) .

The statues and markers at one time contributed to a designed
landscape associated with the memorialization of the fort. However,
they have been relocated in many instances, sustaining a loss of
integrity in terms of location and setting. Many of the original
commemorative trees have died; the Washington Elm died in 1995 and was
removed that year. While the markers and statuary continue to evoke
the broad historical significance of the park’s periods of memorial
activities, and in some instances retain historical/artistic
significance in their own right, they do not contribute to an intact
cultural landscape representative of the memorial periods.

While many of the detailed elements of Fort McHenry’s cultural
landscape have lost integrity, the site continues to exhibit several
broader landscape characteristics that provide insight into the
selection and development of the site for defensive purposes. The tip
of Whetstone Point offered substantial strategic advantages for the
defense of Baltimore by commanding the approaches to the Northwest and
Ferry Branches of the Patapsco River. This was as true in 1776 during
the Revolutionary War when Fort Whetstone was first constructed on the
site, as it was throughout the long span of Fort McHenry’s subsequent
military service. The topography of Whetstone Point is characterized
by gently sloping low-lying land, without the natural protection of
cliffs or rocky escarpments. While this permitted unobstructed views
towards the downriver approaches to Baltimore, the site required
extensive constructed works to compensate for the lack of natural
defenses. Under the prevailing 18th and 19th century theories of
coastal fortifications, these consisted of a succession of features
designed to repel or impede an enemy’s advance: the shore-line and
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upper gun batteries, the elevated slope (glacis), the ditch (dry moat)
with its counterscarp, and ultimately the fort ramparts situated on
higher ground.

Today, although many of the defense works external to the fort have
been removed or modified, the large-scale spatial organization of the
site remains intact in many respects. For example, the fort retains
its historic geographic orientation towards Baltimore, the Northwest
Harbor and Ferry Branch. The sloping grass-covered area outside the
fort walls is at least partially representative of early military
efforts to maintain the openness of the area between the fort and the
water’s edge for defensive purposes. Consequently, a general sense of
the strategic importance of the site and the reasons behind its
selection for fortifications is readily conveyed to the park visitor.

The clustered arrangement of officers’ quarters, barracks, and powder
magazine on the parade grounds, all protected by the earthen and
masonry ramparts, has remained a distinguishing characteristic of the
fort throughout its history. Despite substantial alterations and
subsequent restorations of individual buildings, and the modifications
that accompanied armament and other structural/technological
improvements, the War Department never undertook measures to
substantially reconfigure the fort proper from its late 18th century
pentagonal design. The fort retains and continues to convey the
intent of its original design as a tightly contained and functionally
integrated coastal defense work and garrison.

The 10 ft.-high brick wall presently marking the western boundary of
the monument grounds was constructed in 1837 following the War
Department’s acquisition of additional lands in 1836. It not only
serves as a formal demarcation of the western property line, but
provides the approaching visitor the first physical feature clearly
symbolic of the former military presence and control of the site. The
boundary wall also provides a ready visual indicator of the maximum
spatial extent of the fort grounds attained by the 1830s.

The asphalt entrance road (a continuation of Fort Avenue) follows the
historic alignment of the original access road to the fort from
Baltimore. While a section of the alignment was eliminated to
accommodate the modern curved extension to the visitor parking area, a
paved footpath follows a continuing portion of the historic alignment
north of the ravelin. No readily observable evidence of the original
roadbed remains.

The National Park Service presently maintains the grounds to
perpetuate the memorial character of the national monument. Grass
lawns extend from the boundary (entrance) wall to the seawall, with
clusters of native and exotic trees and shrubs. Several small trees
have recently been planted near the eastern tip of the point. Remmant
survivors of the cherry trees planted in 1932 remain near the Civil
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War powder magazine. Circulation networks consist of the two-way
paved entrance road to the visitor parking lot, paved roads to the
maintenance areas, and several pedestrian walkways. Walkways provide
access to the star fort, visitor center, and the Civil War powder
magazine. They extend along the seawall around the perimeter of the
property from the picnic area near the boat dock on the north, to a
marsh area on the southwest. Non-contributing park housing and
maintenance facilities are clustered at the west end of the property
north and south of the entrance.

2. Archeological Resources

Several archeological investigations have been undertaken at Fort
McHenry beginning in the 1950s and continuing to the present. These
investigations have provided a more complete understanding of the
fort’s construction, the significance of its various structural and
architectural features and the evolutionary sequence of development.
For the most part, investigations have been initiated in response to
the immediate requirements of maintenance/construction projects in
efforts to mitigate the impacts associated with these undertakings.

Where sufficient integrity exists, Fort McHenry’s archeological
resources contribute to the overall National Register significance of
the property. Archeological resources have frequently been identified
in association with extant historic buildings and structures, for the
most part consisting of footings, builder’s trenches, artifacts and
stratified soil deposits. In other instances, investigations have
uncovered the remains of demolished structures that are identified in
the historical record but no longer exhibit surface features, existing
solely of below grade remnants and associated artifacts (e.g.,
privies, parade cistern, shot furnace, gun mounts, etc.). Outside the
fort walls, the locations of several investigated structures in
existence at the time of the 1814 bombardment (e.g., tavern, hospital,
barracks, and stables) are marked and outlined with bricks.

In many cases, ground disturbance associated with the construction and
removal of U.S. General Hospital No. 2 has likely impacted the
archeological integrity of these resources. Among the early
structures adapted for use by the hospital and then later removed were
three 1843 stables (located in the northeastern portion of the 1836
addition to the fort’s grounds). Two of the stables were used as
prisons during the Civil War; all three served as barracks afterwards
and continued in this function throughout the operation of the
hospital. Numerous foundations of the World War I hospital buildings,
themselves worthy of archeological consideration, remain in the grassy
area outside the star fort and water battery.

A summary of the archeological information gathered for Fort McHenry
was compiled in "Review and 